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PER CURIAM:”
Linda F. Wafer, an African-American female, is an employee for the United States Postd
Service (*USPS") in Shreveport, Louisiana. From 1982 to the present, she has held a variety of

positions at the USPS, most recently serving as a carrier service unit (“CSU”) clerk. Wafer had a
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broad range of duties at the CSU, including inputting data into the Delivery Service Information
System (“DSIS") and managing accounting period reports. Additionally, Wafer worked in window
service units at post offices in the Shreveport area when she was not needed in the CSU.

Wafer's co-worker at the CSU, Audene Masters, a Caucasian, also performed DSIS tasks.
During the periods when the USPS assigned Wafer to window service duties, Masterswould remain
at the CSU and continue DSIS and other filing assgnments. Wafer, who preferred DSIS work to
window service, objected to her temporary transfer out of the CSU and filed an administrative
complaint against the USPS. She argued, amongst other things, that the USPS should have
transferred Masters to window service because she was not qualified to perform DSIS entries.
Subsequently, the USPS revised Master’ s job description, which had previoudly not included DSIS
computer duties, to include such CSU office services. Wafer contendsthat the USPS did not require
Masters to undergo the computer testing in order to begin DSIS work. Wafer had passed such
testing herself and viewed DSIS duties as hers alone by virtue of this certification.

In this appeal Wafer dleges the district court erred in concluding that the USPS did not
discriminate against her by temporarily reassigning her to window service units while permitting
Masters, alessqudified Caucasian employee, to perform her DSIStasks. Additionally, she contends
that the USPS responded to her complaints by changing Master’ s job title without requiring proper
testing and certification. Wafer maintainsthat the district court should have found that these actions
by the USPS amounted to racia discriminationin violation of Title V11 of the 1964 Civil Rights Act.
See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-16 (2000).

A Title VII action is anadyzed under a burden-shifting approach whereby the initial burden

rests with the plaintiff to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, a prima facie case of
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discrimination. See Shackleford v. Deloitte & Touche, L.L.P., 190 F.3d 398, 404 (5" Cir. 1999)
(citing McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 791, 801-03 (1973)). In order to meet this
initial burden, Wafer must prove that she (1) isamember of a protected class; (2) was qualified for
her position; (3) was subject to an adverse employment action; and (4) was replaced by someone
outside of the protected class. See Ward v. Bechtel Corp., 102 F.3d 199, 202 (5" Cir. 1997). Only
when the plaintiff has established dl these elements does the burden shift to the defendant employer
to rebut the inference of discrimination by offering a legitimate, non-discriminatory justification for
the action. See Shackleford, 190 F.3d at 404.

Wafer has met her burden asto the first two elements required for a prima facie showing of
discrimination. Itisuncontested that Wafer isan American-Americanfemale, and thereforeamember
of aprotected classunder Title VII. Additionally, she has presented evidencethat sheisqualified for
her position at the CSU and the defendant aso has not challenged these assertions.

Theprincipal issuein thisappeal concernsthe adverse employment element of Wafer’ sprima
facie case. Wafer argues that the district court erred in finding that her temporary transfer from the
CSU to window clerk duties, aswell asthe reclassification of Masters, did not amount to an adverse
employment action by the USPS. We have held that “adverse employment actions’ include only
“ultimate employment decisions. . .such as hiring, granting leave, discharging, promoting, and
compensating.” Walker v. Thompson, 214 F.3d 615, 629 (5" Cir. 2000) (quoting Dollis v. Rubin,
77 F.3d 777, 782 (5" Cir. 1995) (per curiam)). An employer's action does not rise to the level of an
“adverse employment action” when it fails to have more than “ mere tangential effect on a possible
future ultimate employment decision.” Id.  For instance, the mere denial of arequest for alateral

transfer between departments or the failure to offer certain training courses does not constitute an
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adverse employment decision. See Burger v. Central Apt. Management Inc., 168 F.3d 875, 878 (5"
Cir. 1999).

Wafer hasfailed to establishthat her temporary transfer amounted to an adverse employment
action against her. She testified that neither her temporary work assignments nor Master’'s
reclassification resulted in financia harm. Also, she conceded that there was no change in her job
position or her ability to obtain advancement or promotion. See MemorandumRuling at 4, R. at 231.
In essence, her complaint merely aleges that she prefers to work in the CSU and that the USPS
temporarily transferred her into a position she found less desirable. Aswe explained in Southland
v. TexasBoard of Criminal Justice: “Not every negative employment decision or event isan adverse
employment action that can giveriseto adiscrimination or retaliation cause of action under § 1983.
Adverseemployment actionsinclude discharges, demotions, refusalsto hire, refusalsto promote, and
reprimands. Undesirablework assignmentsar e not adver se employment actions.” 114 F.3d 539, 555
(5" Cir. 1997) (emphasis added). Because Wafer only aleges that the USPS gave her what was, in
effect, atemporary, undesirable work assignment, she has failed to meet her burden of showing an
adverse employment action.

For the foregoing reasons, the district court’s ruling dismissng Wafer's complaint is

AFFIRMED.



